IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA CASE NO SCO08-941

JAMES WINKLES Appellant, v. STATE OF FLORIDA Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE SIXTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT FOR PINELLAS COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

RICHARD E. KILEY Fla. Bar No. 0558893 STAFF ATTORNEY JAMES VIGGIANO, JR. Fla. Bar No. 0715336 STAFF ATTORNEY

ALI A. SHAKOOR Fla. Bar No. 0669830 STAFF ATTORNEY CAPITAL COLLATERAL REGIONAL COUNSEL MIDDLE REGION 3801 Corporex Park Drive, Suite 210 Tampa, Florida 33619 (813) 740-3544

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

I. <u>PROCEDURAL HISTORY</u>

The Pinellas County Grand Jury indicted James Delano Winkles on March 25, 1999, for Count One, the first-degree premeditated murder of Elizabeth M. Graham between September 9, 1980, and July 3, 1981, and Count Two, the first-degree premeditated murder of Margo C. Delimon between October 3 and October 21, 1981.

Court appointed defense counsel filed a motion to declare the Florida capital sentencing statute unconstitutional pursuant to <u>Apprendi</u> v. <u>New Jersey</u>, 530 U.S. 466 (2000), and <u>Ring v. Arizona</u>, 536 U.S. 583 (2002). The court heard and denied this motion on April 1, 2002.

On April 3, 2002, Mr. Winkles pled guilty to both counts of first-degree murder and waived his right to a jury for the penalty phase trial, while preserving for

appeal the denial of his motion to declare the Florida capital sentencing statute unconstitutional. The court adjudicated him guilty.

The penalty phase trial was conducted before Circuit Judge Richard Luce on February 17, 2003. The court held a Spencer hearing on March 31, 2003.

On April 14, 2003, the court sentenced Mr. Winkles to death for both counts of first-degree murder. The court found that four aggravating circumstances had been proven beyond a reasonable doubt as to each murder: (1) prior convictions of another capital felony (the other first-degree murder in this case) and of other violent felonies (assault with intent to commit robbery and attempted robbery in 1963, kidnapping, armed robbery, and aggravated assault in 1982) (great weight); (2) capital felony committed while engaged in a kidnapping (great weight); (3) capital felony committed to avoid arrest (great weight); and (4) capital felony committed in a cold, calculated, and premeditated manner without pretense of moral or legal justification (great weight).

The court found that no evidence of any statutory mitigation circumstance had been presented, and none was found anywhere in the record. Regarding non-statutory mitigating circumstances, the court found: (a) Winkles confessed to the cold-case, unsolved murders and cooperated with the police (considerable weight); (b) consecutive life sentences would result in Winkles dying while incarcerated (little weight); (c) life sentences would save taxpayer money because

no direct or collateral appeals would be filed - rejected by the court because Winkles could still file collateral attacks, court would give no weight if this was a valid mitigating factor; (d) Winkles waived several appellate issues by pleading guilty (very little weight); (e) Winkles pled guilty, saving the victims' families from sitting through a trial and saving the State the expense of a trial - the court found that the families were not spared from learning the horrific acts committed against their loved ones (no weight); (f) Winkles' confessions provided the families with finality and closure, but the court found that they were exposed to the disturbing details of the crimes and the bragging manner in which Winkles gave those details (little weight); (g) good conduct while incarcerated for twenty years, evidenced only by a letter from a former prison worker and tried to do his job well to please his supervisor (no weight); (h) Winkles was raised by relatives because of the untimely death of his mother - not proven; and (I) Winkles served in the Alabama National Guard for eight months of a six-year enlistment and was honorably discharged following a conviction by civil authorities - the court found that a good military record had not been proven and that the honorable discharge was entitled to no weight because of the brevity of service.

Defense counsel filed a timely notice of appeal on May 14, 2003. The appeal was affirmed in <u>Winkles v. State</u>, 894 So.2d 842 (Fla. 2005).

On September 20, 2006, Mr. Winkles filed his 3.851 Motion for

Postconviction Relief was filed. On October 18, 2006, the State's Response to Motion for Postconviction Relief was filed. On December 13, 2006, Mr. Winkles' Amended 3.851 Motion for Postconviction relief was filed. On December 18, 2007, an evidentiary hearing was held, The hearing was continued until February 22, 2008.

The trial court denied the post-conviction motion on April 17, 2008. Mr. Winkles filed his notice of appeal on May 12, 2008.

EVIDENTIARY HEARING FACTS

A. Testimony of Dr. Henry L. Dee PH.D

Dr. Dee is a clinical neuropsychologist who was qualified by the lower court as an expert in the field of forensic psychology. (PCR Vol. IV p. 376). Dr. Dee testified at the evidentiary hearing that he did a neuropsychological evaluation and conducted a number of interviews with Mr. Winkles. (PCR Vol. IV p. 386).

Dr. Dee was provided with school records, discovery material, depositions taken of people who knew and/or evaluated Mr. Winkles, and excerpts from the trial itself. (PCR Vol. IV p. 377). Dr. Dee saw Mr. Winkles over three days at Union Correctional Institute. On the first occasion, he introduced himself, explained to Mr. Winkles what he was going to do, took a brief history, and conducted a neuropsychological evaluation. The second and third days that Dee saw Winkles, which were July and September of 2005, Dr. Dee continued the interview in much

more depth. The majority of the testing was done on the first day because it takes several hours to do, and the balance of the time was spent interviewing. (PCR Vol. IV p. 377-780). Dr. Dee gave Mr. Winkles a complete neuropsychological battery of tests beginning with the Wexler Adult intelligence Scale, Third Edition. This test was designed, constructed, and validated to be a neuropsychological battery to assess the adequacy of functioning of various parts of the brain. (PCR Vol. IV p. 378). The purpose of administering the test is two-fold. One is to assess the adequacy of functioning of various areas of the brain, and secondly, to provide a baseline against which the other tests may be compared. (PCR Vol. IV p. 378-9). The Wexler battery yields three scores that are useful in the assessment of the adequacy and mental functioning, a verbal intelligence IQ, performance or non-verbal IQ and a full scale IQ. The reason for that is that the left hemisphere, mediates verbal functioning in a human being. The right hemisphere mediates non-verbal, spacial abilities. (PCR Vol. IV p. 379).

Mr. Winkles' performance on that battery yielded a verbal IQ of 119, a performance IQ of 102, and a full scale IQ of 112. Psychologists group IQ scores into performance levels. The verbal IQ, for example, is described as being in the bright-normal range, as is the full scale. That's any IQ between 110 and 120. The performance IQ and verbal IQ differed by 17 points. The difference of that magnitude is presumed to reflect impairment in right hemisphere functioning, which

is a fairly straightforward interpretation, and a difference of that magnitude is not very controversial. (PCR Vol. IV p. 379).

Dr. Dee also used the Denman Neuropsychology Memory Scales which is a companion instrument that is designed to have the same mean and standard deviation. This is important because it gives the evaluator an idea of the relative intact memory function and general intellectual functioning. The reason that is important is that memory impairment is one of the two most common aftereffects of any kind of brain lesion or brain illness or disease. (PCR Vol. IV p. 380).

In Mr. Winkles' case, the memory quotient was 88. That should be compared with a full scale IQ, and a difference of that magnitude would indicate that rather than being a person who is endowed with simple, dull-normal memory, he is a man with bright-normal, to superior intellectual functioning, with marked impairment of memory because of the discrepancy between the two scores, 112 and 88 respectively. (PCR Vol. IV p. 380). The final diagnosis is that Mr. Winkles is brain damaged and Dee can detail certain areas of dysfunction. (PCR Vol. IV p. 382). Mr. Winkles' memory dysfunction would be very significant in everyday life and in places where an individual is trying to learn new material and new skills. (PCR Vol. IV p. 383).

Dr. Dee also testified that people with frontal lobe damage have been described since the 1850s as suffering from moral insanity; that is to say that's a

deterioration in their functioning, and they do things that are inappropriate, sometimes even shocking. They do and say things without adequate deliberation or thought. So sometimes they shock people in their personal conversations, and they do and say things that seem outrageous given the social context that they're living in. Commenting, for example, on the state of the happiness of their marriages over casual dinner talking about the physical personality and sexual characteristics of a spouse without any appreciation of how that's going to affect the people at the dinner table. It's such a striking syndrome. It's kind of difficult to describe, but it's pretty apparent when you see it. (PCR Vol. IV 383-4).

Dr. Dee then testified about the clinical history of Mr. Winkles. Dee testified that Mr. Winkles was born in a small town in Alabama in 1940. His mother passed away when she was 17 years old. He lived with his paternal grandmother and two paternal aunts, sometimes all together and sometimes separately. He was eventually to leave school after the 8th grade and did not complete the 9th grade. He was held back in 1st grade. (PCR Vol. IV p. 385). Dr. Dee testified that Mr. Winkles told him that he was caught stealing a car in the 8th grade which caused a good deal of embarrassment in such a small community. Dr. Dee also testified that Winkles told him that he'd had a most unusual childhood and that he had been engaged in consensual sex with his grandmother and aunts beginning as early as 9 years of age. Some of those relationships didn't end until he was 32 or 33 years of

age. (PCR Vol. IV p. 386). Dr. Dee also testified that there was very little discipline in the household. This is fairly typical of a child who's being sexually This is because people doing the abuse frequently don't censure and abused. discipline the child very well because they're concerned about the child revealing publicly what's been going on at home so they get very little in the way of adequate structure or discipline. (PCR Vol. IV p. 386-7). Dr. Dee further testified that Winkles had started high school in Alabama, he then dropped out of high school. (PCR Vol. IV p. 387). When asked why, Winkles commented that he didn't really feel he fit in because he had so much carnal knowledge, it made him uncomfortable, and while his peers wouldn't have known about it, it made him feel very separate from them. (PCR Vol. IV p. 388). Winkles then joined the Air Force at 15 because his grandmother wanted him out of the house. (PCR Vol. IV p. 389). In 1961, Mr. Winkles married for the first of his three marriages. It did not last long as his wife ran away with another man. Mr. Winkles came to Florida in 1962 and married Edith Wren. She had a child in Florida and Winkles returned her to Alabama and came back to Florida. (PCR Vol. IV p. 389-90). He then got into trouble for car theft in Florida, spent three and a half years in prison, got out of prison in 1967 and stayed out of prison until 1982. (PCR Vol. IV p. 390). He married for the third time to Mary Thomas about a year after his second marriage was over. One child is the product of that union. Mr. Winkles told Dr. Dee that the reason why he hadn't

respected women very much was that he thought probably it was because of the treatment he received at the hands of his grandmother and aunts led him to demean women and think all of them as promiscuous in one fashion or another. (PCR Vol. IV p. 390-1). Dr. Dee testified that after listening to his comments about his aunts and grandmother, he gave a clear impression that he was unconvinced that they had any genuine affection for him. (PCR Vol. IV p. 391). Mr Winkles characterized his entire family as being oversexed, something he viewed as a family trait. (PCR Vol. IV p. 392). At age 10 Winkles had made a new friend. A new acquaintance had moved into that rural community, and he befriended him. His grandmother brought him into the kitchen and put his hand over the sink and cut him with a butcher knife across his hand, warning him, threatening him not to tell anyone outside the family what was going on in the home, and then, strangely, took him to the bedroom and had sex with him. (PCR Vol. IV p. 393). Dr. Dee testified that Mr. Winkles talked about his female relatives in a derogatory fashion. He had few positive memories of them, and he felt that it kind of underlayed his poor opinion of women. Another example of this poor opinion is the way Winkles talked about his last wife when he said she would prostitute herself for money, and he could get her to do that just by asking her to do it. She also made pornographic tapes. (PCR Vol. IV p. 393-4). It was apparent to Dr. Dee that Mr. Winkles was very conflicted about women and is detailed. (PCR Vol. IV p. 394). Dr. Dee testified that Mr.

Winkles did not use alcohol or illegal drugs and detailed Mr. Winkles' medical history and problems. (PCR Vol. IV p. 395-7). Dr. Dee opined that the major findings from the interviewing of Mr. Winkles are the lengthy and very significant sexual abuse at the hands of those family members that continued far into adulthood.

(PCR Vol. IV p. 397-8).

Regarding the presentation of non-statutory mitigation based on Dr. Dee's evaluation the following questions were asked and answered at the evidentiary hearing:

Q. Okay. Based upon your history and evaluation of Mr. Winkles, could non-statutory mitigation have been presented to a jury, had a jury been impaneled? A. Oh, I think so. Yes.

Q. And specifically, Doctor, what mitigation could have been presented based upon your evaluation?

A. Well I – I think the most significant of it is the extensive sexual abuse and exploitation that he suffered at the hands of his two aunts and his grandmother from an early age. Certainly it would have an impact and would be relevant to an individual who is tried for the murder of two women and the sexual abuse of these women.

Q. And that mitigation may have explained his behavior?

A. Might certainly help us understand how this perversion developed. (PCR Vol. IV p. 398-99).

Dr. Dee, when discussing the memory impairment on cross examination noted that Mr. Winkles' remote memory, like others with memory problems, is typically well preserved. It's the short-term, immediate, and recent memory that would be most impaired. (PCR Vol. IV p. 409). Dr. Dee opined that regarding the potential

non-statutory mitigation which could have been used, (the sexual abuse by his grandmother and aunt) "rang true". (PCR Vol. IV p. 411). Dr. Dee also testified that Mr. Winkles was sleeping with two aunts up to the age of 32. (PCR Vol. IV p.412). At that point, the sexual relationships could be termed consensual. (PCR Vol. IV p. 413).

Dr. Dee also spoke with J.C. Winkles. (PCR Vol. IV p. 143).

B. Testimony of J.C. Winkles

J.C. Winkles was the uncle of J.D. Winkles and testified at the evidentiary hearing. J.C. Winkles is a retired attorney and a veteran of the United States Army in World War II. (PCR Vol. IV p. 427). He left home at approximately 18 years of age and testified that Mr. Winkles' mother died within weeks or months after he was born. (PCR Vol. IV p. 429). She was buried out in a rural community about 10 miles from Oakman, Alabama. (PCR Vol. IV p. 430). J. C. Winkles testified that Defendant Winkles's father was worthless; he took very little interest in Jimmy and did not have anything to do with his raising or providing money for him or anything as far as he knew. (PCR Vol. IV p. 431).

Prior to the time that Jimmy was born, Lena and Orrine had both been convicted of bootlegging and both were sentenced to the women's prison at Alderson, West Virginia. (PCR Vol. IV p. 431). Shortly after Jimmy was born, Lena and Orrine were released from prison to take care of him. (PCR Vol. IV p.

432). J. C. Winkles described growing up in this manner.

But she was – in retrospect, I can see that she was not a good mother. She did not enforce discipline. We were encouraged to do things that were unlawful, like stealing, and anything that – and sexual morals were not known in our house. There was a lot of promiscuity, and as soon as my sisters were old enough, they got into the same situation, both of them.

Q. Mr. Winkles, was your mother also promiscuous?

A. Was she what?

Q. Was she also promiscuous growing up?

A. I'd have to say yes. It might depend on how you'd define promiscuous, but she had a number of lovers.

Q. Okay. What were the finances like in the home?

A. What was what like?

Q. What were the finances like?

A. Well, they were quite good after Mr. Hawk was living, but that was only a year or so, and he was drawing a disabled veteran's pension. And it took perhaps a year for mama to qualify and start drawing a widow – a veteran's widow's pension. And during that interim there, nobody was more poverty-stricken than we were.

Q. Okay.

A. We-we I had no underwear until I was able to start mowing grass and cutting hedges, about 12 years old. And a lot of times, there would be hardly anything to eat.

Q. You mentioned that your mother was not much of a disciplinarian?

A. Not at all.

Q. Did she – do you know what type of disciplinarian she was involving Jimmy?

A. Probably the same with Jimmy, and she also mostly raised Jimmy's first cousin, Douglas, and Jimmy and Douglas were pretty close in those days. And she – she never disciplined anybody.

Q. How did she feel about education?

A. Sir?

Q. How did she feel about education - was - let me

rephrase. Was education a priority in your home growing up?

A. Priority?

Q. Yeah, was education a priority?

A. You mean preference towards one or more children?

Q. Did your mother instill any values in hard work and education in you or either of the children?

A. No. She only went to about the fifth grade herself, and all of her brothers and sisters went about that far. Education was not a priority in our family but. --

Q. Okay. And you mentioned stealing. Did she ever encourage stealing, your mother?

A. Well, let me give you an example of some of the thievery that I was involved in. We burned coal. We cooked with coal in a coal stove and had these coal grates in each room of the house. Of course, we'd only could get enough coal to have it heat in one of the house, and during the wintertime, we didn't have any money to buy any coal. So it was up to Failure and me to go down to the railread tracks and pick up coal along the tracks. And if there wasn't – wasn't very much down there – other people were picking it up, too – I'd climb up on top of the boxcar and throw some off, and we had put that in what we called toe sacks and take it home. We'd make those trips about every night and that enabled us to keep warm. (PCR Vol. IV p. 433-536).

J. C. Winkles left home to join the military before J. D. Winkles was born (PCR Vol.

IV p. 436). J. C. Winkles testified that J. D. Winkles was teased about the size of

his penis; the other boys in the family were not, only the Defendant was. (PCR Vol.

IV p. 438).

J. C. Winkles testified that he has been very active in the Methodist Church

all of his adult life and would not lie for anybody. (PCR Vol. IV p. 439).

J. C. Winkles further described his mother in this manner:

A. – in her way. She was not a good role model. She just did not instill any values in her children. She was – she was just uneducated, unsophisticated woman who'd not had any lessons in parenting, and we had no role models at all. None of my uncles were good role models. They were all either alcoholics or bootleggers or moonshiners. (PCR Vol. IV p. 445).

J. C. Winkles testified that by most people's standards, she, (his mother) was an immoral person. (PCR Vol. IV p. 448). Retired attorney Winkles also testified that "Sometimes I'd get up to go to school and sit at the breakfast table, and there'd be a strange man there, and I knew what was going on." (PCR Vol. IV p. 448).

Retired attorney Winkles also testified that based upon his knowledge of his family, he had no reason to believe that life was different for Jimmy than it was for him. He stated that his mother lived to be 88 and she was the same person. (PCR Vol. IV p. 448-9).

C. Testimony of Michael Maher, M. D.

Dr. Michael Maher is a physician and psychiatrist licensed to practice medicine in the state of Florida. He was qualified by the post-conviction court as a medical doctor and expert in the field of forensic psychiatry. (PCR Vol. IV p. 453).

Dr. Maher testified that he received a variety of materials of what he would characterize generally as legal, medical, and social in nature. Testimony and depositions of various individuals involved in this case for example, Mary Thomas,

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