### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

JAMES WINKLES,

Appellant,

v.

Case No. SC08-941 L.T. No. CRC 99-05593 CFANO-M Death Penalty Case

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

/

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE SIXTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR PINELLAS COUNTY, FLORIDA

#### ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

BILL MCCOLLUM ATTORNEY GENERAL

CAROL M. DITTMAR SENIOR ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL Florida Bar No. 0503843

KATHERINE MARIA DIAMANDIS ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL Florida Bar No. 69116 Concourse Center 4 3507 East Frontage Road, Suite 200 Tampa, Florida 33607-7013 Telephone: (813) 287-7910 Facsimile: (813) 281-5501

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

#

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

## SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The trial court did not err in denying Appellant's claim of ineffective assistance of counsel during the guilt or penalty phase. Following an evidentiary hearing, the trial court concluded that Appellant had failed to establish either deficient performance or prejudice. The trial court's factual findings are supported by competent, substantial evidence, and the legal principles were properly applied in denying relief.

#### ARGUMENT

#### ISSUE I

WHETHER MR. WINKLES WAS DENIED THE EFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL AT THE GUILT AND PENALTY PHASES COUNSEL'S OF HIS CAPITAL TRIAL BASED ON ADVICE REGARDING SENTENCING.

Appellant challenges the trial court's rejection of his claim of ineffective assistance of counsel with regard to the guilt phase of his capital trial. As this claim was denied following an evidentiary hearing, the trial court's factual findings are reviewed with deference and the legal conclusions are considered *de novo*. <u>Stephens v. State</u>, 748 So. 2d 1028, 1033 (Fla. 1999).

Claims of ineffective assistance of counsel are controlled by the standards set forth in <u>Strickland v. Washington</u>, 466 U.S. 668 (1984), the United States Supreme Court established a twopart test for reviewing claims of ineffective assistance of counsel, which requires a defendant to show that (1) counsel's performance was deficient and fell below the standard for reasonably competent counsel and (2) the deficiency affected the outcome of the proceedings. The first prong of this test requires a defendant to establish that counsel's acts or omissions fell outside the wide range of professionally competent assistance, in that counsel's errors were "so serious

that counsel was not functioning as the 'counsel' guaranteed the defendant by the Sixth Amendment." 466 U.S. at 687, 690; <u>Valle</u> <u>v. State</u>, 705 So. 2d 1331, 1333 (Fla. 1997); <u>Rose v. State</u>, 675 So. 2d 567, 569 (Fla. 1996). The second prong requires a showing that the "errors were so serious as to deprive the defendant of a fair trial, a trial whose result is reliable," and thus there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's errors, the result of the proceedings would have been different. <u>Strickland</u>, 466 U.S. at 687, 695; <u>Valle</u>, 705 So. 2d at 1333; Rose, 675 So. 2d at 569.

Proper analysis of this claim requires a court to eliminate the distorting effects of hindsight and evaluate the performance from counsel's perspective at the time, and to indulge a strong presumption that counsel rendered adequate assistance and made all significant decisions in the exercise of reasonable professional judgment; the burden is on the defendant to show otherwise. <u>Strickland</u>, 466 U.S. at 689. <u>See generally Chandler</u> <u>v. United States</u>, 218 F.3d 1305 (11th Cir. 2000). In addition, this Court has repeatedly recognized that "the reasonableness of counsel's actions may be determined or substantially influenced by the defendant's own statements or actions." <u>Henry v. State</u>, 937 So. 2d 563, 573 (Fla. 2006), quoting Stewart v. State, 801 So. 2d

59 (Fla. 2001), and <u>Cherry v. State</u>, 781 So. 2d 1040, 1050 (Fla. 2000).

Appellant's allegation that trial counsel was ineffective in advising Appellant to enter a guilty plea was conclusively refuted by the testimony presented at the evidentiary hearing. After a hearing on this issue, the trial court held:

denied Defendant alleges that he was effective assistance of counsel at the quilt and penalty phases as counsel advised him that his death sentence would be invalid if he was sentenced by the judge without a jury. Defendant alleges in his motion that based upon these representations he waived a guilty phase jury, pleaded guilty, waived a penalty phase jury and proceeded to sentencing before a judge. Defendant alleges he was further prejudiced because he was denied a potential Ring/Aprendi claim on appeal because he waived a jury at the guilt and penalty phases.

The Court finds Defendant has failed to establish prejudice. Defendant has not moved to set aside his plea or indicate that he would not have entered a quilty plea but for the advice counsel gave about the validity Florida's death sentencing scheme. From the beginning of the case, it was indicated that Defendant did not intend to go to trial. Counsel Brunvand testified that, after Defendant was advised by himself and Counsel Hernandez, he made the determination that he did not want to go to trial. Testimony also indicates that Defendant is a individual the strong-willed who had final say. Defendant's own actions support this characterization as he continuously spoke to law enforcement about the case even after counsel advised against it and sometimes without counsel's knowledge.

When Defendant entered his guilty plea, counsel stated, "Mr. Winkles wishes to enter this plea because he wishes to accept responsibilities for his actions." See Exhibit A. Change of Plea Hearing pg. 4. Defendant indicated that he confessed in order "to salve my conscience and to give some closure to the families." The Court finds that Defendant has not demonstrated that he entered a guilty plea based upon any erroneous advice from counsel. Testimony adduced at the evidentiary hearing evidences that Defendant entered a guilty plea based on his own perverse need to receive recognition for the horrific acts he committed, acts that in his own words "went off perfect."

Defendant also fails to prove that he waived a penalty phase jury based on counsel's advice about the validity of Florida's death sentencing scheme. At the evidentiary hearing Defendant indicated that he decided forego a penalty phase jury based upon the to representation that his cooperation with authorities would be "worth something" to the judge and there "might be a possibility" of a life sentence from the judge. Counsel stated that the strongest mitigation they had to present was the fact that he cooperated with law enforcement. It was believed that this would hold more weight with a judge than it would with a jury. Counsel also stated that the Defendant decided to waive a jury for penalty phase after discussing it with both of his attorneys and contemplating it. Defendant admitted that a judge would "most probably" give more weight to the came forward. The judge did give fact that he considerable weight to the fact that he cooperated with police. The Defendant's decision to forego a penalty phase jury was a tactical one, and "strategic decisions do not constitute ineffective assistance of counsel if alternative courses have been considered and rejected and counsel's decision was reasonable under the norms of professional conduct." Occhicone v. State, 768 So. 2d 1037, 1048 (Fla. 2000). This decision was reasonable given the nature of the mitigation to be presented.

Finally, Defendant has not shown that counsel provided any affirmative misadvice. Counsel expressed an opinion on how a pending United State Supreme Court case could impact capital punishment in Florida. The outcome was by no means certain and counsel demonstrated this knowledge by attempting to continue Defendant's case until the case was decided. When a continuance was not available, he properly preserved the issue for appeal. As Defendant has failed to establish either prong under Strickland, this claim is denied.

(PCR 2/308-09)(emphasis supplied).

Trial counsel Bjorn Brunvand was the attorney primarily responsible for Appellant's penalty phase, and Brunvand was the one to discuss <u>Ring</u> and its potential implications with Appellant (PCR 4/510; 5/623-25). Although <u>Ring</u> was not decided until after Appellant entered his plea, counsel insured that the issue was explored and properly preserved for appellate review (PCR 5/567-74). Winkles, 894 So. 2d at 845-46.

Notably, Appellant did not testify that he would not have pled guilty had he received any different advice. This omission alone supports rejection of this claim. Absent some proof that Appellant would have pled not guilty and gone to trial absent affirmative misadvice from counsel, Appellant did not show prejudice and cannot prevail on this issue. Hill v. Lockhart, 474 59 (1984) ("in order to satisfy the 'prejudice' 52, U.S. requirement [when claiming ineffective assistance of counsel with regard to entry of a plea], the defendant must show that there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's errors, he would not have pleaded guilty and would have insisted on going to trial"); Ey v. State, 982 So. 2d 618, 623-24 (Fla. 2008); Grosvenor v. State, 874 So. 2d 1176, 1181 (Fla. 2004) (applying Hill). Furthermore, this Court examined the propriety of Appellant's plea and held:

In this case, our review of the plea colloquy amply satisfies us that the trial court thoroughly informed

appellant about the rights he was waiving and appellant indicated both verbally and in writing that he understood. Specifically, the court explained that appellant was entitled to a jury in both phases of the trial, that if he elected to waive his right to a jury, the judge alone would determine his sentence, and that the only sentencing options were life or Appellant stated that he understood death. the ramifications of his plea, that he was not being threatened or coerced, and that he was not on any medication that would impair his understanding of his decision. He does not contend otherwise in this appeal. Accordingly, we hold that he knowingly and voluntarily entered his plea, and the trial court properly accepted it.

<u>Winkles</u>, 894 So. 2d at 847. Moreover, Appellant indicated at the time of his plea he entered the plea because he believed it was in his best interest to do so, and that he was satisfied with counsel's advice concerning changing his plea to guilty (R 2/304-05, 3/522).

More importantly, Appellant did not identify any affirmative misadvice from his attorneys. Although Brunvand was hopeful, like many defense attorneys in Florida, that <u>Ring</u> would signal the end of capital punishment in Florida, counsel cannot be deemed ineffective for failing to anticipate the exact holding of that decision or its impact in Florida. <u>Cherry v. State</u>, 781 So. 2d 1040, 1053 (Fla. 2000); <u>Nelms v. State</u>, 596 So. 2d 441, 442 (Fla. 1992). Counsel attempted to continue Appellant's case until <u>Ring</u> was decided, to no avail (PCR 5/571-72). Appellant's testimony that Brunvand told him that a death sentence would not stand up on

appeal if he pled guilty is not credible, since <u>Ring</u> had not yet been decided. Moreover, Brunvand testified that Appellant listened to the advice of his attorneys, but made his own decision to plead guilty, as he did not want a trial (PCR 5/599).

Appellant suggests that Brunvand should have explained that a guilty plea would foreclose any possible relief under Ring, and that counsel did not sufficiently preserve the Ring claim for However, this Court considered and rejected the Ring review. claim as without merit; this Court did not find that review was Winkles, 894 procedurally barred or waived by the guilty plea. Rather, as this Court expressly found, So. 2d at 845-46. Appellant's prior violent felony convictions supported the imposition of the death sentence and precluded any relief under Ring. See Poole v. State, 33 Fla. L. Weekly S957 (Fla. Dec. 11, 2008) (prior violent felony aggravator takes case outside scope of Ring). Appellant's decision to plead guilty had no impact on the way his claim was reviewed and resolved on direct appeal.

Appellant failed to demonstrate that his attorneys performed deficiently with regard to the legal advice they provided prior to Appellant's decision to plead guilty. Appellant, who was strongwilled and made the ultimate decisions in this case, wanted to plead guilty. In addition, Appellant did not adequately allege, and certainly did not establish, any possible prejudice even if

any erroneous advice had been given, since Appellant did not testify that he would not have entered his plea in the absence of the advice. On these facts, the trial court properly denied this claim and its judgment must be affirmed.

#### ISSUE II

WHETHER MR. WINKLES WAS DENIED THE EFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL AT THE SENTENCING PHASE OF HIS TRIAL BASED ON AN ALLEGED FAILURE CAPITAL TO INVESTIGATE AND PRESENT MITIGATION EVIDENCE.

Appellant challenges the trial court's rejection of his claim of ineffective assistance of counsel with regard to the penalty phase of his capital trial. As this claim was denied following an evidentiary hearing, the trial court's factual findings are reviewed with deference and the legal conclusions are considered *de novo*. Stephens, 748 So. 2d at 1033.

As discussed above, claims of ineffective assistance of counsel are controlled by the standards set forth in <u>Strickland</u> v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668 (1984).

Appellant's allegations that his attorneys performed deficiently with regard to the investigation and presentation of mitigating evidence were also refuted by the testimony at the evidentiary hearing. The trial court properly denied this claim as the record reflects that counsel did conduct a reasonable investigation for mitigation and made a strategic decision regarding what evidence to present. Moreover, the trial court properly denied this claim as there was no showing of prejudice. Specifically, Appellant claims that his attorneys should have presented his uncle, J.C., as a penalty phase witness, and should

have investigated and presented mitigation obtained through a mental health professional. Once again, no deficient performance or prejudice can be discerned on the facts of this case.

The trial court rejected Appellant's penalty phase claims with the following findings:

Defendant alleges that counsel was ineffective at the sentencing phase of his trial for failing to have him evaluated by a mental health professional licensed and qualified to testify in the State of Florida. It is further alleged that counsel was ineffective for failing to have a qualified mental health professional review the work product submitted. Defendant asserts that he was prejudiced because the mitigation, which could have been presented, would have been weighed and influenced to obtain a life sentence by the trial court.

Defendant was evaluated by a Dr. Brittain, who prepared a lengthy report and spoke with counsel about his findings. Counsel also retained Dr. Sidney Merin to review Dr. Brittain's findings and discuss them with him. Dr. Merin is qualified to testify in the Florida. Counsel also spoke with a Dr. State of Vernon, who evaluated Defendant for his own purposes and not for trial. After discussing the medical findings, counsel concluded that, from a tactical standpoint, the testimony that would be provided by a mental health professional would not be helpful and would be inconsistent with the plea. Counsel agreed risk whenever that there is mental health а professionals are presented that the door will be opened to many different issues. After ascertaining evidence mental health professionals would what present to the Court, counsel made a decision not to present such evidence, as it would not be beneficial. "The choice by counsel to present or not present evidence in mitigation is a tactical decision properly within counsel's discretion." Brown v. State, 439 So. 2d 872, 875 (Fla. 1983). Counsel clearly chose to not present testimony based on the representations of experts he consulted and the focus of their mitigation that Defendant cooperated with law enforcement to

solve	two	cold	case	s. I	he	decis	ion	not	to	pre	sent
testi	mony	about	Def	endar	nt's	ment	al	heal	th	is	not
deficient "merely because the defendant now secured											
the	testi	mony	of a	mo	re	Eavora	able	mer	ntal	he	alth
exper	t." G	laskin	v. St	ate,	822	So.	2d 1	.243,	12	50 (	Fla.
2002)	(quo	oting	Asay	v.	Stat	e, 76	9 So	o. 2	2d 9	74,	986
(Fla.	2000	)).

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